South Dakota State University

Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2018

Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Students in Agricultural Education

Matthew Tripp South Dakota State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd

Part of the Agricultural Education Commons, and the Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Research Commons

Recommended Citation

Tripp, Matthew, "Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Students in Agricultural Education" (2018). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2665. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd/2665

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

EFFECTS OF STANDARDS-BASED GRADING ON STUDENTS IN

AGRICULTURAL EDUCATION

BY

MATTHEW D. TRIPP

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science

Major in Agricultural Education

South Dakota State University

2018

EFFECTS OF STANDARDS-BASED GRADING ON STUDENTS IN AGRICULTURAL EDUCATION

MATTHEW D. TRIPP

This thesis is approved as a creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the Master of Science in Agricultural Education degree and is acceptable for meeting the thesis requirements for this degree. Acceptance does not imply that the conclusions reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusions of the major department.

> P. Troy White, Ph.D. Thesis advisor

Dáte

Jay / renhaile, Ed.D Date Head, Department of Teaching, Learning and Leadership

Dean, Graduate School

Date

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would first like to acknowledge my wife, Theresa Tripp, for her unwavering support throughout this process. Thank you for the never-ending encouragement, without it I would not be where I am today. I would also like to thank Dr. White and Dr. Hasselquist for all of the advice, critiques, and for sharing their passion for research. Your feedback and guidance were greatly appreciated along the way, not to mention the time you spent reviewing my thesis.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES
ABSTRACTvii
INTRODUCTION
STANDARDS-BASED GRADING1
LITERATURE REVIEW4
GRADING PRACTICES4
ADOPTING STANDARDS-BASED GRADING
CONTENT STANDARDS IN EDUCATION
STUDENT PERCEPTIONS OF GRADING9
COLLEGE AND CAREER READINESS10
PURPOSE11
METHODS
PARTICIPANTS12
MEASURES13
DESIGN13
PROCEDURES14
DATA ANALYSIS15
RESULTS16
DISCUSSION

	LIMITATIONS	28
	CONCLUSIONS	28
	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	30
RE	FERENECES	31
AP	PENDIX	34

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. One-Way Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on
Student Perceptions of Classroom Feedback
Table 2. Descriptive Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on
Student Perceptions of Classroom Feedback
Table 3. One-Way ANOVA Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based
Grading on Student Perceptions of Abilities21
Table 4. Descriptive Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on
Student Perceptions of Abilities
Table 5. One-Way Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on
Student Perceptions of Grades
Table 6. Descriptive Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on
Student Perceptions of Grades
Table 7. One-Way Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on
Student Perceptions of Tests, Quizzes, and Homework
Table 8. Descriptive Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on
Student Perceptions of Tests, Quizzes, and Homework

ABSTRACT

EFFECTS OF STANDARDS-BASED GRADING ON STUDENTS IN AGRICULTURAL EDUCATION

MATTHEW D. TRIPP

2018

Standards-based grading is being discussed more frequently in the field of education as school districts either explore or adopt this grading method. This study examined the effects of standards-based grading on achievement and perceptions of students enrolled in high school agricultural education courses. This nonequivalent quasi-experimental study focused on how students' perceptions of classroom feedback, abilities, and opportunities to redo assessments were affected by the implementation of a standards-based grading method. Participants in this study were students who enrolled in a quarter long Home Maintenance course that used standards-based grading methods to assess student mastery on specific content standards in the course. The research questions were addressed through feedback from participants and compared to a control group, which were graded using traditional grading methods. Students' perceptions of abilities, classroom feedback, grading, and test, quizzes, and homework were recorded in a pre-survey. Standards-based grading methods including prompt feedback, opportunity to redo assessments, and clear learning targets were used. A post-survey was used to record any changes of student perceptions of grading practices, ability, grading preference, and teacher instructional methods. The results reveled student perception remained largely unchanged after having been evaluated in a standards-based grading classroom.

Introduction

What does a letter grade represent? A question that seems simple at the surface level but when asked elicits varying definitions from different individuals. "Grading refers to the symbols assigned to individual pieces of student work or to composite measures of student performance on student report cards" (Brookhart, et al., 2016, p. 804). While grading can be given a definition, interpretation of a grade is open to discussion. Reeves (2012) recognized the complexity of this question and highlighted it with an experiment conducted with thousands of educators and administrators. Reeves (2012) asked participants to identify the final grade for a student who earned the following 10 scores: C, C, MA (missing assignment), D, C, B, MA, MA, B, A. The final grades participants would conclude for the student ranged from A to F (Reeves, 2012). Reeves's (2012) further explained "It turns out the difference between the A and B student and the D and F student had nothing to do with intelligence or home support and everything to do with the different grading systems of individual teachers" (p. 28). Reeve's (2012) experiment demonstrated how inconsistent traditional grading methods are among educators and how inaccurate a grade based on points reflects students' academic performance. The inconsistency of grading practices is not unique to one content area or another. Thus starting a movement towards a grading method known as standards-based grading. This proposed method removes the inaccuracy of grades by evaluating students solely on their academic mastery of specific content standards.

Standards-Based Grading

Standards-based grading is based on giving multiple grades on specific standards along with student's product, process, and progress (Swan, Guskey, & Jung, 2014).

Guskey and Jung (2012) claimed education is moving quickly to adopt standards-based grading as "School leaders have become increasingly aware of the tremendous variation that exists in grading practices" (p. 23). Guskey and Jung (2012) continued that the variation of grading is prevalent between teachers in the same school and department who teach the same classes. As the probability of adopting standards-based grading increases, practicing educators should familiarize themselves with this method of grading and the effects it has in their classroom. The rationale for moving away from traditional grading practices and adopting a standards-based grading system is explained by Reeves (2012) statement: "Educators must start with the understanding that grading is feedback, and the purpose of feedback is improved performance, not just the announcement of a final evaluation" (p. 29). Scriffiny (2008) further supported transitioning to grading solely on standards instead of nonacademic points and by doing so "we can actually help students grapple with the idea of quality and walk away with a higher degree of selfsufficiency" (p. 73). These studies found standards-based grading could benefit and improve student learning and mastery while reducing the flaws of traditional grading.

The possibility of transitioning to standards-based grading served as the impetuous to investigate the effects of standards-based grading on student perceptions and achievement in agricultural education. Agricultural educators may find themselves needing to transition to a standards-based grading method, or accepting a job in a district utilizing this method. In regards to standards-based grading, some questions agriculture educators may have that should be addressed include how standards-based grading impacts student achievement in agricultural classes, how agricultural teachers may adopt this method, student perceptions of standards-based grading, and how it prepares students

for college or careers in agriculture. A further analysis of the literature that pertains to these questions will follow.

Literature Review

Grading Practices

For most, the familiar traditional grading method of recording academic success came in the form of percentage scores correlated to specific letter grades. "In the traditional system, students acquire points for various activities, assignments, and behaviors, which accrue throughout a grading period" (Marzano & Heflebower, 2011, p. 34). Percent scores or letter grades are calculated from the number of points accumulated throughout a course and divided by the total number of points available. Townsley and Varga (2018) described traditional grading as capturing what students have earned on homework, extra credit, and effort versus what they have learned. Students are also not afforded the opportunity to redo assignments or tests and are arbitrarily docked points for late or missing submissions.

Although deeply rooted in the educational system, traditional grading practices can be highly flawed due to variation between individual educators. Welsh, D'Agostino, and Kaniskan (2013) pointed out:

Teachers may inflate grades with nonacademic extra credit assignments, base grades on improvement instead of mastery, or incorporate formative assessments into summative scores, all of which are unrelated to how much a student knows and can do at the end of a grading period. (p. 27)

Wormeli (2006a) expanded that grades become inflated with extra credit opportunities as students worked to improve their grade without meeting course standards. Because of this potential for grade inflation, the question must be asked if traditional grades really represent student knowledge and ability or if they are a conglomeration of points from various assignments, extra credit, behavior, and other categories unassociated with content knowledge. Reeves (2012) identified another error, "at least for some students, grades are not linked to proficiency but to compliance" (p. 29). Students complete tasks and assignments because it is what is expected of them not because the task or assignment enriches their comprehension. Thus, the need for a better grading system that not only changes the way students are assessed, but also changes the way content is taught.

A movement towards standards-based grading has resulted from acknowledgement of the flaws in traditional grading practices. "In an effort to cure the ills of current grading and reporting systems, many schools and districts across the United States have attempted to implement a standards-based system" (Marzano and Heflebower, 2011, p. 34). Standards-based grading evaluates students based on their proficiency in meeting well-defined course objectives and focuses on the knowledge a student gains in the course (Iamarino, 2014). Standards-based grading gained momentum to improve grading practices with educational leaders publishing literature and traveling from district to district sharing the ideology and benefits of this method. Proulx, Spencer-May, and Westerberg (2012) stated:

Standards-based education and the system of grading it entails improves student achievement; increase accuracy and fairness of grades; and enhances communication between classroom teachers and students, parents, colleges, and employers regarding what students are expected to know and do in each course and how well each student is performing in relation to those expectations. (p. 30) The use of standards-based grading mitigates the flaws of traditional grading and gives grades meaning. "Standards-based grading allows for students to be graded solely on mastery of course content, which can lead to student motivation and a meaningful learning relationship" (Shippy, Washer, & Perrin, 2013, p. 14). Student focus is removed from how many cumulative points are needed to earn a specific letter grade and refocused on specific learning outcomes. Instead of cumulative end of quarter grades over several course topics, Swan et al. (2014) described; "By providing separate grades or marks for product, process, and progress criteria, standards-based reporting clarifies the meaning of grades and offers a more accurate and informative depiction of students' performance in school" (p. 291). These separate grades or marks provide constructive feedback for students during the advancement of their education and changes their focus to advancing their education rather than earning points.

Adopting Standards-based Grading

Transitioning to a standards-based grading system can be a daunting task especially when it involves an extreme change from past grading practices. Proulx et al. (2012) discussed challenges in *Moving to Standards-based Grading: Lessons from Omaha*:

Teachers struggle with the philosophical shift to standards-based education. The greatest challenge was moving away from a grading system that they could use to motivate students as well as punish them for undesirable behavior and instead begin grading students solely on the basis of evidence of their learning. (p. 32) Once teachers realized that grades are not merely a reward system and should reflect Another challenge of using standards-based grading identified by Swan et al. (2014) is the amount of additional time it takes teachers to complete student grade reports. Swan et al. (2014) surveyed participating teachers in their study on standards-based reporting and found that participants noted the reporting process took more time than traditional grading methods. Although more time was needed to report grades, participating teachers did feel standards based reporting provided valuable feedback and was worth the additional time needed to report grades (Swan et al., 2014). Standards-based grading may be a difficult change for many teachers, however proper implementation of key aspects in standards-based grading along with time for development streamlines transition. Key aspects of standards-based grading includes feedback, redos, and aligned content standards.

Standards-based grading centers around feedback, which is crucial to student mastery. "Students need timely feedback on work in progress that salutes original ideas, solid research, and effective use of skills as well as offering suggestions for improvement" (Miller, 2013, pp. 114-115). Without proper and timely feedback, student improvement or mastery is difficult to obtain. Feedback from teachers allows students to evaluate and make corrections until success is reached. Teachers need to implement an efficient system to provide feedback to students in a timely manner so they will be able to improve.

The ability to redo assessments is vital to standards-based grading. Wormeli (2006a) pointed out "Our world is full of redos. Sure, most adults don't make as many mistakes requiring redos as students do, but that's just it – our students are not adults and as such, they can be afforded a merciful disposition" (p. 136). Allowing students to go

back and redo work removes the penalty of not knowing and affords students a chance to master course content. Wormeli (2006b) attributed denying students the ability to redo work lets them get away with not learning the material but when we command redos, students are held accountable. Wormeli (2006b) further elaborated as students redo work while continuing new work; this invokes motivation to be accountable to learn the material the first time. Redos provide the opportunity to learn from mistakes, it removes the feeling of being too far gone to improve, and reinforces quality work.

Content Standards in Education

Content standards guide classroom instruction and define specific measurable outcomes. Having lesson plans or instructional units with embedded content standards helps direct and give meaning to what is being done in class. Scriffiny (2008) implemented standards-based grading and had to redevelop curriculum by adding clear standards with exact levels of mastery. Welsh et al. (2013) further explained:

For standards-based reform to work, it is important that teachers be well versed not only in content state standards, but also in what it means to assign students to specific performance levels in terms of the skills that must be attained or that are yet to be mastered. (p. 36)

Familiarity with content standards and building lessons or units around them will provide meaningful connections to learning. Clearly identified learning outcomes in lessons will also give students a direction and goal to reach. Further, the transition in grading practices is made easier.

Student Perceptions of Grading

Although students are the ones who earn grades, little literature was found on this topic. Two research studies conducted by Heipp (2016) and Winton (2015) investigated student perceptions of grading. Heipp (2016) explored high school students' views on grading with twelve students who had experienced education in both traditional and charter school settings. Heipp (2016) noted when participants were asked what the best and worst parts of school were; no direct references to grading were made. Heipp (2016) continued that participant responses showed stronger feelings towards other parts of school than grades. Another key finding from the study was participants believed grades did not represent what they learned and cited instances where all participants had experienced at least one time their grade did not match their learning (Heipp, 2016).

In the area of standards-based grading, Winton (2015) surveyed 115 high school students and interviewed twelve of them about their perceptions of the grading method. Survey results showed 65.21% of students felt standards-based grading did not prepare them for college, 72.17% felt standards-based grading did not prepare them for the workforce, and 70% of students felt standards based grading was not the best for evaluating learning (Winton, 2015). In the interviews conducted by Winton (2015), six students were in favor of standards-based grading, five were in favor of traditional grading, and one student held no opinion. Interviewees cited an advantage of standards-based grading as being more difficult to fail and a disadvantage as being more difficult to get an A (Winton, 2015).

College and Career Readiness

Standards-based grading prepares students to work in careers based on industry and performance standards. Standards are utilized in the workplace and when similar standards are incorporated into the classroom, it permits students to learn and master skills necessary and in-demand in the labor market. Davis (2006) stated, "Skill standards define work to be performed, the criteria of the mastery, and the knowledge and skills necessary for competent performance" (p. 22). Through incorporation of standards in education, Davis (2006) continued that "Industry based standards merge employment and education, clarify job competencies, improve capabilities and productivity and aid in students' transition to the work place" (p. 22). In addition, Scriffiny (2008) found after adopting standards-based grading, some parents commented on how this method paralleled workplace evaluations. The alignment of skill standards with content standards and utilizing standards-based grading can help better-prepare students for college and careers.

Proulx et al. (2012) further connected standards-based grading to student college and career readiness. Proulx et al. (2012) stated, "Implemented properly, standards-based grading will allow a clear picture of college and career readiness for students, parents, colleges and employers" (p. 31). By using a standards-based method, students will be leaving classrooms and entering college and careers with clearly defined abilities and skills. Iamarino (2014) expanded "In addition to helping repurpose education as a fundamental step toward a career, the critical connections students make between course material and long-term goals will serve their ability to understand the world around them in more multidimensional, comprehensive terms" (p. 3). The implementation of standards-based grading can follow students beyond the classroom not only in their career but also as lifelong learners.

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to investigate how a standards-based approach to grading affects student anticipated achievement and perceptions in an agricultural education course. Standards-based grading is being investigated by the school district in which I am employed and this research will allow for a broader understating of how it may affect an agricultural education classroom. This research fills a gap in the literature by looking at student perceptions and achievement in an agricultural education class using standards-based grading practices. More specifically:

- 1. Is feedback a valuable tool of standards-based grading to motivate student learning?
- 2. Will students perceive their grade accurately represents their abilities?

3. Do students find value in the opportunity to redo assessments? With this study, student anticipated achievement and perceptions of standards-based grading was observed, recorded, and evaluated. The collected data was used to uncover changes in anticipated achievement and changes in student perception that may have occurred among students enrolled in an agricultural education course.

Methods

Participants

The accessible population for this study included all high school students who attended a large high school in Minnesota. The population was students 14 to 19 years of age and consisted of culturally diverse males and females from varying backgrounds. According to Minnesota Report Card (2018), 886 students were enrolled at the school of which the race/ethnicity consisted of 48.4% Hispanic/Latino, 33.3% White, 10.7% Asian, 6.3% Black/African American, 1.1% two or more races, and 0.1% American Indian/Alaskan Native. The population of students also consisted of 19.2% English Learner, 14.9% Special Education, 63.5% Free/Reduced Priced Lunch, and 0.2% Homeless students (Minnesota Report Card, 2018).

The sample frame for this quasi-experimental study were all students enrolled in an agricultural education course offered during the 2017-2018 school year. The convenience sample was determined by selecting students enrolled in the Home Maintenance courses to participate in the study. Fifty-three participants were involved. Of the participants, fourteen were female and thirty-nine were male, with one freshman, twenty-three sophomores, nine juniors, and twenty seniors. Participants identified their race/ethnicity as 32.1% Hispanic/Latino, 51.0% White, 15.1% Asian, 1.9% Black/African American, 0.0% two or more races, and 0.0% American Indian/Alaskan Native.

A control group was established for data comparison at a neighboring high school that offered a similar home maintenance course that used traditional grading practices. Demographic data for this school included a total enrollment of 355 students of which the race/ethnicity consisted of 91% White, 3.1% two or more races, 2.3% Hispanic/Latino,

2.3% Asian, and 1.4% Black/African American (Minnesota Report Card, 2018). In addition, the student population consisted of 0.3% English Language learner, 15.8% Special Education, and 32.7% Free/Reduced Priced Lunch (Minnesota Report Card, 2018). Fourteen participants made up the control group, five females and nine males, with zero freshman, zero sophomores, six juniors, and eight seniors. Participants identified their race/ethnicity as 0.0% Hispanic/Latino, 100.0% White, 0.0% Asian, 0.0% Black/African American, 0.0% two or more races, and 0.0% American Indian/Alaskan Native.

Measures

A pre-survey (Appendix A) and post-survey (Appendix B) were used to collect data from participants in both the control and treatment groups to be analyzed and compared. The survey tool was reviewed by current practicing agricultural educators to establish face validity. The survey tool contained four constructs: abilities, classroom feedback, grades, and tests, quizzes and homework. In addition, the pre-survey collected data on gender, grade level, ethnicity, and anticipated grade for the course. The postsurvey was identical to the pre-survey but was written specifically to participants' experience in the Home Maintenance course. The post-survey for the treatment group included seven open-ended questions to collect additional feedback. The control group did not complete the open-ended questions. The survey tool used a Likert-type scale with a 1 through 7 response format of *strongly disagree* to *strongly agree*.

Design

The design of this study is a nonequivalent quasi-experimental pretest-posttest design. The study can be displayed in notational form as the following:

Ν	0	Х	0
Ν	0		0

N signifies that the groups are nonequivalent, the O signifies the measures used, and X signifies the treatment. This design is generally weak in internal validity due to selection threats; the outcome from the data collected can be analyzed and compared between the two groups to determine if the program had an effect and to what extent.

Procedures

This research was completed over a 9-week period in the Home Maintenance courses. Approval was received from the IRB and building principal to proceed with the study. Parental assent and student consent was obtained before any data collection occurred.

At the start of the 9-week course, participants in the treatment and control group were given the pre-survey (Appendix A) to complete. The pre-survey was written in a general format in relation to all classes participants have taken. The survey was administered as a paper copy and collected upon completion. Participants used a unique number to identify their surveys to protect their confidentiality. The unique number allowed the pre-survey to be matched and compared to the post-survey for each individual participant. The participants in the treatment group were assessed using standards-based grading methods that centered on clear and specific learning targets (Appendix C), prompt and detailed feedback, and opportunities to redo assessments upon request. Although students were assessed with a standards-based grading approach, a single letter grade was still utilized to display overall individual achievement at the end of the course. Participants in the control group were evaluated through traditional grading practices.

At the conclusion of the 9-week course, participants completed the post-survey (Appendix B). The post-survey used identical measures written specifically to the participants experience in the Home Maintenance course. The treatment group post-survey included seven additional open-ended questions. The open-ended questions were used in the post-survey to obtain further insight on participants' perceptions of standards-based grading. The control group completed the post-survey written specifically to their experience in the course. Short response questions were not included on the control group's post survey.

Data Analysis

Pre-surveys and post-surveys were collected and responses entered into an Excel Spreadsheet. The spreadsheet was organized by treatment and control group with each participant aligned with their pre-survey and post-survey responses. The survey tools used a Likert-type scale with a 1 through 7 response format. The response were 1 *strongly disagree, 2 disagree, 3 somewhat disagree, 4 neutral, 5 somewhat agree, 6 agree,* and 7 *strongly agree.* Questions 6, 13, 19, 21, and 26 on the survey tools were reversal items and were reverse coded prior to analysis. Recorded data was exported SPSS, a statistical analysis software program, for data analysis. A one-way ANOVA test was ran for all groups of data. Open-ended responses from the treatment group's post-survey were coded for emerging themes.

Results

Analyses focused on participant responses to each construct on the survey tool, Abilities, Classroom Feedback, Grades, and Tests, Quizzes, and Homework. The following tables show the descriptive analyses and results from the one-way ANOVA for each construct. Since this was an exploratory research, a lower Cronbach's Alpha is acceptable.

Objective 1 sought to determine if feedback is a valuable tool of standards-based grading to motivate student learning (see table 1). This was measured through the classroom feedback construct from the survey tool. The pre-survey means of participants in the treatment group and control group were compared using a one-way ANOVA. No significant difference was found (F(1,65) = 2.51, p > .05). The participants did not differ significantly at the start of the course. Students in the treatment had a mean score of 5.17 (sd = 0.87). Students in the control group had a mean score of 5.25 (sd = 0.85). A one-way ANOVA was computed comparing the post-survey means of participants in the treatment and control group. A significant difference was found (F(1,65) = 21.20, p < .05). Post hoc comparisons using Tukey's HSD test was used to determine the nature of the differences between the treatment and control groups (see table 2). This analysis revealed participants in the treatment scored higher (m = 5.94, sd = 0.74), students in the control group scored lower (m = 4.83, sd = 1.02). An Eta Squared of 0.25 for the main effect for classroom feedback represents a medium effect size.

Objective 2 sought to determine if students will perceive their grades accurately represent their abilities. This was measured with the constructs abilities and grades on the survey tool. For the abilities construct, the pre-survey means of participants in the

treatment group and control group were compared using a one-way ANOVA (see table 3). No significant difference was found (F(1,65) = 2.51, p > .05). The participants did not differ significantly at the start of the course. Students in the treatment had a mean score of 4.88 (sd = 0.78) and students in the control group had a mean score of 5.26 (sd = 0.86) (table 4). The post-survey means of participants in the treatment and control group were compared using a one-way ANOVA. No significant difference was found (F(1,65) = 1.70, p > .05). The participants did not differ significantly at the conclusion of the course students in the treatment had a mean score of 5.31 (sd = 0.96) and students in the control group had a mean score of 4.92 (sd = 1.12).

For the grades construct, the pre-survey means of participants in the treatment group and control group were compared using a one-way ANOVA (see table 5). No significant difference was found (F(1,65) = 1.83, p > .05). The participants did not differ significantly at the start of the course. Students in the treatment had a mean score of 4.48 (sd = 1.25) and students in the control group had a mean score of 5.02 (sd = 1.62) (see table 6). The post-survey means of participants in the treatment and control group were compared using a one-way ANOVA. No significant difference was found (F(1,65) = 1.31, p > .05). The participants did not differ significantly at the conclusion of the course. Students in the treatment had a mean score of 5.08 (sd = 1.25) and students in the control group had a mean score of 4.48 (sd = 1.43).

Objective 3 sought to determine if students found value in the opportunity to redo assessments. The pre-survey means of participants in the treatment group and control group were compared using a one-way ANOVA (see table 7). No significant difference was found (F(1,65) = 2.51, p > .05). The participants did not differ significantly at the

start of the course. Students in the treatment had a mean score of 4.77 (sd = 0.82). Students in the control group had a mean score of 4.72 (sd = 0.85). A one-way ANOVA was computed comparing the post-survey means of participants in the treatment and control group. A significant difference was found (F(1,65) = 21.20, p < .05). Post hoc comparisons using Tukey's HSD test was used to determine the nature of the differences between the treatment and control groups (see table 8). This analysis revealed participants in the treatment scored higher (m = 4.92, sd = 0.94), students in the control group scored lower (m = 4.32, sd = 0.75). An Eta Squared of 0.07 for the main effect for test, quizzes, and homework represents a small effect size.

One-Way Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Student Perceptions of Classroom Feedback

Source		df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
Pre-Survey	Between-groups	1	0.07	0.07	0.09	0.77	0.00
	Within-group	65	48.21	0.74			
	Total	66	48.278				
Post-							
Survey	Between-groups	1	13.81	13.81	21.20	0.00	0.25
	Within-group	65	42.35	0.65			
	Total	66	56.16				

Descriptive Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Student Perceptions of Classroom Feedback

							95	%	
							Confi		
							Interv		
							Me	ean	
							Lower	Upper	
			Ν	Μ	SD	SE	Bound	Bound	Min
Pre-									
Survey	Treatment		53	5.17	0.87	0.12	4.93	5.41	3.71
	Control		14	5.25	0.85	0.23	4.76	5.73	3.43
	Total		67	5.18	0.86	0.10	4.97	5.39	3.43
	Model	Fixed Effects			0.86	0.11	4.97	5.39	
		Random Effects				0.11	3.85	6.52	
Post-									
Survey	Treatment		53	5.94	0.74	0.10	5.74	6.15	3.86
	Control		14	4.83	1.02	0.27	4.24	5.42	2.43
	Total		67	5.71	0.92	0.11	5.49	5.94	2.43
	Model	Fixed Effects			0.81	0.10	5.51	5.91	
		Random Effects				0.64	-2.40	13.82	

One-Way ANOVA Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Student Perceptions of Abilities

Source		df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
Pre-Survey	Between-groups	1	1.59	1.59	2.51	0.19	0.04
	Within-group	65	40.96	0.62			
	Total	66	42.55				
Post-							
Survey	Between-groups	1	1.67	1.67	1.70	0.20	0.03
	Within-group	65	63.92	0.98			
	Total	66	65.59				

Descriptive Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Student Perceptions of Abilities

							95			
							Confi			
							Interv	Interval for		
							Me	ean		
							Lower	Upper		
							Boun	Boun		
			Ν	Μ	SD	SE	d	d	Min	
Pre-										
Survey	Treatment		53	4.88	0.78	0.11	4.67	5.10	3.00	
	Control		14	5.26	0.86	0.23	4.77	5.76	3.67	
	Total		67	4.96	0.80	0.10	4.77	5.16	3.00	
	Model	Fixed Effects			0.79	0.10	4.77	5.16		
		Random Effects				0.20	2.48	7.45		
Post-										
Survey	Treatment		53	5.31	0.96	0.13	5.04	5.57	3.00	
	Control		14	4.92	1.12	0.30	4.27	5.56	2.17	
	Total		67	5.22	1.00	0.12	4.98	5.47	2.17	
	Model	Fixed Effects			0.99	0.12	4.98	5.47		
		Random Effects				0.19	2.83	7.62		

One-Way Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Student Perceptions of Grades

Source		df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
Pre-Survey	Between-groups	1	3.26	3.26	1.83	0.18	
	Within-group	65	115.86	1.78			
	Total	66	119.12				
Post-							
Survey	Between-groups	1	2.16	2.16	1.31	0.26	
	Within-group	65	107.69	1.66			
	Total	66	109.86				

Descriptive Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Student Perceptions of Grades

							95	6%	
							Confi		
							Interv		
							Me	ean	
							Lower	Upper	
			Ν	Μ	SD	SE	Bound	Bound	Min
Pre-									
Survey	Treatment		53	4.48	1.25	0.17	4.14	4.83	1.00
	Control		14	5.02	1.62	0.43	4.09	5.96	1.00
	Total		67	4.59	1.34	0.16	4.27	4.92	1.00
	Model	Fixed Effects			1.34	0.16	4.27	4.92	
		Random Effects				0.27	1.20	7.99	
Post-									
Survey	Treatment		53	5.08	1.25	0.17	4.74	5.43	1.67
	Control		14	4.64	1.43	0.38	3.82	5.47	1.00
	Total		67	4.99	1.29	0.16	4.68	5.31	1.00
	Model	Fixed Effects			1.29	0.16	4.68	5.31	
		Random Effects				0.20	2.45	7.54	

One-Way Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Student Perceptions of Tests, Quizzes, and Homework

Source		df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
Pre-Survey	Between-groups	1	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.85	0.00
	Within-group	65	44.52	0.69			
	Total	66	44.55				
Post-							
Survey	Between-groups	1	4.06	4.06	4.93	0.03	0.07
	Within-group	65	53.58	0.82			
	Total	66	57.64				

Descriptive Analysis of Variance for the Effects of Standards-Based Grading on Student Perceptions of Tests, Quizzes, and Homework

							95			
							Confi			
							Interv	Interval for		
							Me	ean		
							Lower	Upper		
							Boun	Boun		
			Ν	Μ	SD	SE	d	d	Min	
Pre-										
Survey	Treatment		53	4.77	0.82	0.11	4.54	5.00	1.00	
	Control		14	4.72	0.85	0.23	4.24	5.21	1.00	
	Total		67	4.76	0.82	0.10	4.56	4.96	1.00	
	Model	Fixed Effects			0.83	0.10	4.56	4.96		
		Random Effects				0.10	3.48	6.05		
Post-										
Survey	Treatment		53	4.92	0.94	0.13	4.66	5.18	3.29	
	Control		14	4.32	0.75	0.20	3.88	4.75	3.29	
	Total		67	4.80	0.93	0.11	4.57	5.02	3.29	
	Model	Fixed Effects			0.91	0.11	4.57	5.02		
		Random Effects				0.33	0.58	9.01		

The open-ended questions completed by the treatment group on the post-survey had reoccurring themes. Most notable was classroom feedback, discussed by 19 participates in multiple short response questions. The multiple-choice questions about feedback also showed strong positive perceptions. One student wrote, "The most beneficial [part of standards-based grading] would be the feedback that the teacher gives and how to improve from your mistakes." The ability to redo assessments was discussed by 18 students on multiple questions. One student wrote about redos, "The ability to retake or redo something paired with instruction on how to do something right when it wasn't done correctly made it easy for everyone to strive for excellence, even for those who didn't quite get it the first time." Lastly, a notable response from a participant when asked if standards-based grading changed their perceptions of grading practices replied, "Yes. It makes me realize how much better my classroom experience could be without the confusion of unclear objectives and feedback, and the pressure of needing to do things right the first time."

Discussion

Limitations

Limitations of this study included the accessible population, self-reporting, and time constraints. First was the accessible population for the treatment and control groups. Both groups were relatively small and did not match perfectly in demographics. In addition, there was also no interaction with the control group and teacher. This could have led to differences in the results. Second, self-reporting was used to obtain data from the control and treatment group. Anytime self-reporting is used, there is always a concern of validity in responses. Self-reporting relies on truthful and unbiased answers from the participants which may not always happen and decrease validity (Carducci, 2009). Lastly, the time span of the study was limited. This study was conducted for one quarter of the school year, which is 45 student contact days. Given more time, student perceptions could have changed in either direction in relation to standards-based grading.

Conclusions

Overall, results from the data analyses suggested that student perceptions were not significantly changed after receiving the treatment. However, some parts of standardsbased grading did yield significant changes in student perceptions. Those parts included classroom feedback and tests, quizzes, and homework.

In light of the research questions:

1. Is feedback a valuable tool of standards-based grading to motivate student learning?

From the data analysis, participants in the treatment group did show a significant change in this construct. This suggests that feedback provided to students is perceived as valuable in their learning experience. Open-ended question responses further supported the data for this question. This corresponds with the statement from Miller (2013) on feedback, "Students need timely feedback on work in progress that salutes original ideas, solid research, and effective use of skills as well as offering suggestions for improvement" (pp. 114-115). Including timely and accurate feedback to students in class may prove beneficial to learning whether a standards-based approach to grading is implemented or not.

2. Will students perceive their grade accurately represents their abilities?

Data did not support an overall change in student perceptions of grades and their abilities. When compared to the control group, no significant changes occurred. For work required to transition to a standards-based grading method, the data does not support making that change.

3. Do students find value in the opportunity to redo assessments?

Data from the tests, quizzes, and homework construct suggested student perceptions of this construct changed significantly. This was further supported in the open-ended responses. Several participants cited the opportunity to redo assessments was beneficial to their mastery of content. This echoes that allowing redos holds students accountable and motivates them to learn (Wormeli, 2006b). Adopting a redo policy in the classroom may prove beneficial to student learning and mastery.

While results failed to show significant changes in student perceptions for standards-based grading, some parts did show change. Providing clear and timely feedback to students and implementing a redo policy for assessments is worthy of consideration by practicing educators. These two aspects can be easily adopted into any classroom without implementation of a full standards-based grading system. I would recommend practicing educators evaluate their current grading methods to ensure concise and timely feedback is included in their evaluation methods. I would further recommend practicing educators adopt a redo policy as well to help students master course objectives.

Recommendations for Future Research

Further research on student perception of standards-based grading should be completed to add to the literature of standards-based grading. While much is known about the process of standards-based grading, very little literature pertains to student perceptions of this method. Uncovering perceptions students have of standards-based grading may provide insight for the adoption and implementation of such a system. Identification of key components students perceive as beneficial to their learning could lead to better course experiences for them as well. Further research should be done on a broader scale with the inclusion of entire educational departments or schools that align more closely in demographics. Future research should also be conducted over a longer period, perhaps for the entire school year.

References

- Brookhart, S.M., Guskey, T.R., Bowers, A.J., McMillan, J.H., Smith, J.K., Smith, L.F.,
 Stevens, M.T., Welsh, M.E. (2016). A century of grading research: Meaning and
 value in the most common educational measure. *Review of Educational Research*,
 86(4), 803-848. doi: 10.3102/0034654316672069
- Carducci, B.J. (2009). *The psychology of personality: Viewpoints, research, and applications.* (2nd ed.). Malden, MA: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Davis, J. L. (2006). Adopting industry skill standards can strengthen CTE. *Tech Directions*, 66(3), 22-23. Retrieved from http://excelsior.sdstate.edu/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/218498 185?accountid=28594
- Guskey, T.R., & Jung, L. A. (2012). Four Steps in Grading Reform. *Principal Leadership*, 13(4), 22-28. Retrieved from http://excelsior.sdstate.edu/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/134663 1471?accountid=28594
- Heipp, Lisa. (2016). An exploration of student views on grading and learning in an alternative school setting. (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.nl.edu/diss/227
- Iamarino, D. L. (2014). The benefits of standards-based grading: A critical evaluation of modern grading practices. *Current Issues in Education*, 17(2), 1-12. Retrieved from https://cie.asu.edu/ojs/index.php/cieatasu/article/view/1234/568
- Marzano, R.J., & Heflebower, T. (2011). Grades that show what students know. *Educational Leadership*, 69(3), 34-39. Retrieved from https://sdstate-

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/primo-

explore/fulldisplay?docid=TN_ericEJ963096&context=PC&vid=01SDBOR_SD B&search_scope=EVERYTHING&tab=default_tab&lang=en_US

Miller J.J. (2013). A better grading system: Standards-based, student-centered assessment. *English Journal, 103*(1), 111-118. Retrieved from http://www.educationalleadershipdigital.com/educationalleadership/201111?pg=36#pg36

- Minnesota Report Card. (n.d.). Retrieved April 24, 2018, from http://rc.education.state.mn.us
- Proulx, C., Spencer-May, K., & Westerberg, T. (2012). Moving to standards-based grading: Lessons from Omaha. *Principal Leadership*, 13(4), 30-34. Retrieved from

http://excelsior.sdstate.edu/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/134663 1447?accountid=28594

Reeves, D. B. (2012). Four ways to make grades more effective. *Educational Horizons*, *91*(2), 28-29. doi: 10.1177/0013175X1209100209

Scriffiny, P. L. (2008). Seven reasons for standards-based grading. *Educational Leadership*, 66(2), 70-74. Retrieved from http://excelsior.sdstate.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dire ct=true&db=aph&AN=34967544&site=ehost-live

Shippy, N., Washer, B. A., & Perrin, B. (2013). Teaching with the end in mind: The role of standards-based grading. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 105(2), 14-16. Retrieved from

http://excelsior.sdstate.edu/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/142605 2654?accountid=28594

- Swan, G. M., Guskey, T. R., & Jung, L. A. (2014). Parents' and teachers' perceptions of standards-based and traditional report cards. *Educational Assessment, Evaluation* and Accountability, 26(3), 289-299. doi: 10.1007/s11092-014-9191-4
- Townsley, M., & Varga, M. (2018) Getting high school students ready for college: A quantitative study of standards-based grading practices. *Journal of Research in Education*, 28(1), 92-112. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1168171
- Welsh, M. E., D'Agostino, J. V., & Kaniskan, B. (2013). Grading as a reform effort: Do standards-based grades converge with test scores? *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, 32(2), 26-36. doi: 10.1111/emip.12009
- Winton, T.W. (2015). Student and teacher perceptions of standards-based grading and student performance. (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (Accession Order No. 3728021).
- Wormeli, R. (2006a). Fair isn't always equal: Assessing & grading in the differentiated classroom. Portland, ME: Stenhouse Publishers.
- Wormeli, R. (2006b). Accountability: Teaching through assessment and feedback, not grading. *American Secondary Education*, 34(3), 14-27. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41064580

Appendix A

Beginning of Class Survey

Directions: Circle the number in a box that best reflects your perceptions towards other

classes.

Ab	ilities	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neutral	Somewhat Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1.	I can learn everything my teachers teach me.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.	I set goals in classes that I try to achieve.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.	I am motivated to learn new content.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.	I learn new content quickly.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5.	I find learning new material easy.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6.	I struggle to pay attention in classes.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Cla	ssroom Feedback	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neutral	Somewhat Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
7.	My teachers are available to answer questions when I need help.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8.	My teachers make it clear what I am supposed to learn.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9.	My teachers writes things on my assignments to help me do better in the future.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10.	My teachers gives me feedback	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

throughout class							
to let me know							
how I am doing.							
11. I find it valuable							
to receive timely	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
and appropriate	_	_	-	-			
feedback.							
12. It is valuable for							
me to fix			2		-	-	_
mistakes on	1	2	3	4	5	6	1
assignments to							
learn from them.							
13. I do not review							
the feedback	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
from my	_		-		_		
teachers.							

Grad	les	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neutral	Somewhat Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
14.	My grades represents what I learn in classes.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
15.	My grades reflect how much effort I put forth in classes.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
16.	My grades reflect how much growth I made.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
17.	I can interpret the meaning of my grades.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
18.	Grades measure my abilities accurately.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
19.	Grades do not motivate me in classes.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Tests, Quizzes, and Homework	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neutral	Somewhat Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
20. Homework is beneficial to understanding a concept in classes.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

21. Homework is extra work that is not important.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
22. Homework assignments are valuable to achieving mastery.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
23. Optional homework is useful when I need extra practice.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
24. Retaking tests/quizzes aids in my ability to master a standard.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
25. Test and quiz scores show my level of mastery of a standard.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
26. I find it difficult to complete homework assignments on time.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Please complete the following demographic information:

Gender:	Male	Female		
Grade:	9	10	11	12
Ethnicity:				

Identify the grade you anticipate to earn in this class:	А	В	С	D	F
--	---	---	---	---	---

Appendix B

End of Class Survey

Directions: Circle the number in a box that best reflects your perceptions towards how

things went in this class.

Ab	ilities	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neutral	Somewhat Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1.	I can learn everything my teacher teaches me.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.	I set goals in class that I try to achieve.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.	I am motivated to learn new content.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.	I learn new content quickly.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5.	I find learning new material easy.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6.	I struggle to pay attention in class.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Cla	ssroom Feedback	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neutral	Somewhat Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
7.	My teacher is available to answer questions when I need help.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8.	My teacher makes it clear what I am supposed to learn.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9.	My teacher writes things on my assignments to help me do better in the future.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10.	My teacher gives me feedback	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

throughout class to let me know how I am doing							
11. I find it valuable to receive timely and appropriate feedback.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
12. It is valuable for me to fix mistakes on assignments to learn from them.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
13. I do not review the feedback from my teacher.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Grades	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neutral	Somewhat Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
14. My grades represents what I learn in class.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
15. My grades reflect how much effort I put forth in class.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
16. My grades reflect how much growth I made.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
17. I can interpret the meaning of my grade.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
18. Grades measure my abilities accurately.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
19. Grades do not motivate me in class.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Tests, Quizzes, and Homework	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neutral	Somewhat Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
20. Homework is beneficial to understanding a concept in class.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
21. Homework is extra work that is not important.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

22.	Homework assignments are valuable to achieving mastery.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
23.	Optional homework is useful when I need extra practice.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
24.	Retaking tests/quizzes aids in my ability to master a standard.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
25.	Test and quiz scores show my level of mastery of a standard.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
26.	I find it difficult to complete homework assignments on time.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Short Response: Please provide a response to the following questions.

- 27. What parts of standards-based grading did you find the most beneficial?
- 28. Was there anything you did not like or find as helpful with standards-based grading? If yes, how could it be improved?
- 29. Did standards-based grading help you better learn course material? If yes, explain how it helped and if no, explain how it did not help.
- 30. Did standards-based grading motivate you to master or make progress towards mastery of the identified standards? Please explain why or why not.
- 31. Was the use of standards-based grading more or less reflective of your actual knowledge or ability than other grading practices? Please explain.
- 32. Did standards-based grading change your perception of grading practices? If yes, in what way did they change?
- 33. Share any additional information you feel is relevant to your experience with standards-based grading.

Appendix C

Home Maintenance Course Standards

Home Buying Standards Based Evaluation

Performance	4- Mastery	3- Proficient	2- Developing	1- Needs
Objectives				Work
I can define				
terms related to				
home buying				
I can weigh the				
pros and cons of				
buying a house				
I can				
differentiate				
between wants				
and needs in a				
house				
I can develop a				
budget for my				
income and				
expenses				
I can calculate				
my monthly				
house payment				

Scale Score	Percentage Score
4	100
3.5	95
3.0	90
2.5	80
2.0	70
1.5	65
1.0	60
Below 1.0	50

Performance	4- Mastery	3- Proficient	2- Developing	1- Needs
Objectives				Work
I can construct a				
stud wall 16" on				
center.				
I can properly				
identify and use				
required tools to				
frame a wall.				
I can identify				
the 4 main				
structural areas				
of a house.				
I can explain				
and execute				
safe work habits				
at home and in				
the shop.				

Framing Standards Based Evaluation

Scale Score	Percentage Score
4	100
3.5	95
3.0	90
2.5	80
2.0	70
1.5	65
1.0	60
Below 1.0	50

Performance	4- Mastery	3- Proficient	2- Developing	1- Needs
Objectives				Work
I can draw and				
interpret wiring				
diagrams.				
I can properly				
identify and use				
required tools				
and equipment				
for electrical				
wiring.				
I can define				
different				
vocabulary				
words related to				
electricity and				
wiring.				
I can explain				
and execute				
safe electrical				
working habits.				
I can correctly				
wire different				
type of circuits				
commonly				
found in a				
home.				

Electricity Standards Based Evaluation

Scale Score	Percentage Score
4	100
3.5	95
3.0	90
2.5	80
2.0	70
1.5	65
1.0	60
Below 1.0	50

Drywall Standards Based Evaluation

Performance	4- Mastery	3- Proficient	2- Developing	1- Needs
Objectives				Work
I can describe				
and use various				
tools for				
hanging				
drywall.				
I can explain				
how to cut				
drywall using				
different tools.				
I can properly				
hang drywall				
using screws or				
nails.				
I can explain				
the importance				
of corner bead.				

Scale Score	Percentage Score
4	100
3.5	95
3.0	90
2.5	80
2.0	70
1.5	65
1.0	60
Below 1.0	50

Performance	4- Mastery	3- Proficient	2- Developing	1- Needs
Objectives				Work
I can				
differentiate				
between a butt				
and tapered				
drywall joint.				
I can explain				
the steps for				
each mud coat.				
I can identify				
and use tools				
and materials				
needed for				
taping and				
mudding.				
I can properly t				
tape and mud				
different				
drywall joints.				

Taping and Mudding Standards Based Evaluation

Scale Score	Percentage Score
4	100
3.5	95
3.0	90
2.5	80
2.0	70
1.5	65
1.0	60
Below 1.0	50

Performance	4- Mastery	3- Proficient	2- Developing	1- Needs
Objectives				Work
I can describe				
different				
methods of				
drywall				
texturing.				
I can texture				
drywall using				
one texturing				
method.				
I can remove				
texture from				
drywall.				

Drywall Texturing Standards Based Evaluation

Scale Score	Percentage Score
4	100
3.5	95
3.0	90
2.5	80
2.0	70
1.5	65
1.0	60
Below 1.0	50

Performance	4- Mastery	3- Proficient	2- Developing	1- Needs
Objectives				Work
I can fix				
drywall using				
the California				
patch.				
I can identify				
proper patching				
techniques				
based on the				
damage.				

Drywall Patch Standards Based Evaluation

Scale Score	Percentage Score
4	100
3.5	95
3.0	90
2.5	80
2.0	70
1.5	65
1.0	60
Below 1.0	50